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COMMENTARY FROM THE HEAD 
 
The Annual Report which concentrates on the financial information and school targets is enclosed.  
 
Progos-Le Bocage International School (the ‘school ‘or the ‘Company’) is driven by its Vision Statement, ‘’to inspire 
innovative and holistic leaders for a changing world”.  
 
Face-to-face classes resumed at the start of 2022 and it was a relatively smooth academic year.  
 
The main event that took place in 2022 was the school’s first LBImpactS Week, which took place in May 2022. 
LBImpactS aims at fostering a sense of belonging and togetherness among individuals within the school community 
and beyond while striving to inspire innovative and holistic learners who are able to overcome challenges in a fast-
changing world. This was a week when students, teachers, and parents collaborated to do something which positively 
impacts the school, Mauritius, or the world. The impact may be environmental or social, consisting of varied initiatives, 
depending upon the inspiration and passion of school community members. It was a week which developed skill sets 
for applying what is learned in class to enact change, underscoring the value of learning, and where Bocage community 
members were inspired to lead initiatives. They put into practice the mission statement through principled initiatives, 
collaboratively led to meet the needs of the communities they are citizens of.  The mission of LBIS came to life, through 
the principled leadership of our students. The second Impacts Week happened in May 2023.  
 
The official results (released in January 2023) of students taking external examinations (IGCSE and IB Middle Years 
Programme in Form 5, and IB Diploma and IB Career-related in Form 7) were excellent, and exceeded previous 
performances. This is testament to the hard work of the students and teachers.  
 
Construction on the new building at the bottom of the campus was completed in February 2023. The structure will 
house three classrooms, a mess area for support staff and a storage area.  
 
The Board increased monthly fees by 4%for the 2023 school year (2021: Rs 400) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
David Jenkins  
(Head Le Bocage International School)  
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COMMENTARY FROM THE BOARD 
 
The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited financial statements of Progos, the Company owning 
and operating Le Bocage International School (‘LBIS’ or Le Bocage), for the year ended 31 December 2022. 
 
SCHOOL GUIDING STATEMENTS 

Le Bocage continues to be driven by its School Guiding Statements (SGS). These statements can be seen in various 
curriculum documentation.  
 
STUDENT BODY 
 
LBIS continues to meet the needs of its student body by offering a “holistic, student-centred secondary international 
education developing principled and balanced global citizens who are equipped to collaborate and overcome challenges in a fast 
changing multicultural world” (LBIS Mission Statement, 2016). 
 
At LBIS on average in 2022, 90 % (2021: 87%) of the student population was from Mauritius and 10% (2021:13%) from 
approximately 30 other countries.  From January 2019 to January 2023, the student population varied between 705 and 
793 as shown in the bar chart below.  The school ended 2022 with 780 students and started 2023 with 793. Enrolment in 
Forms 1 to 5 remains very positive with average year groups of 119 students (2021: 115) 
 
 
School Roll January 2023: 793 students 
 
The gender mix at the school at the end of January 2023 was 50% (January 2022: 50%) female students and 50% male 
students (2022: 50%). 
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COMMENTARY FROM THE BOARD (CONTINUED) 
 
HUMAN RESOURCES 
 
During 2022, the school endeavoured “to employ and retain suitably qualified and experienced teachers who are committed and 
dedicated to realise our School’s Guiding Statements” (SGS, OB 22). In 2022, there were 88 teachers employed (2021:84). 
There were 13 educational support members of staff (2021:13), 16 administrative staff (2021:16) and 19 support staff 
(2021:19). At year-end, the student: teacher ratio was 11.3:1 (cf 9.0:1 in 2021). 
 
In line with the school’s commitment to retain and promote pedagogical development, the school has continued to 
provide opportunities for staff.  
 
STUDENT LEARNING & PERFORMANCE 
 
LBIS is a mixed ability school, which academically demands more of its staff and students each year and “aims to promote 
and nurture caring, inquisitive and principled behaviour” (SGS Philosophy No.1).  
 
In external examinations, the academic performance of our students in many subject is above that of similar 
international schools around the world. Students achieved high standards in the 2022 International General Certificate 
of Secondary Education (IGCSE) examination and some excellent results at the International Baccalaureate Diploma 
Programme (IBDP), the International Baccalaureate Career-related Programme (IBCP), and the International 
Baccalaureate Middle Years Programme (IBMYP) eAssessments.  
 
Section A: 2022 IGCSE Results Summary 
 
The International Certificate of Education (ICE) is awarded to candidates who pass at least seven IGCSE subjects. In 
addition, they have to have studied a number of subjects across a range of disciplines.  
● Distinction - Grade A* or A in five subjects and grade C or better in two more. 
● Merit - Grade C or better in five subjects and Grade F or better in two more 
● Pass – Grade G or better in seven subjects   
 
As with the previous cohort of students, most of the 2022 students sat for: 
● English and English Literature (2 IGCSE subjects); 
● French and French Literature (2 IGCSE subjects); 
● Mathematics; and 
● 5 optional subjects (5 IGCSE subjects) at 5 periods (65 minutes) per two-week cycle. 
 
General Summary 
 
Total number of students for 2022: 85 Students (2021: 78)    
 
Table 1: ICE or equivalent certificates 
 

Figures for 2022 Number Percentage 
Distinction or equivalent 32 38 
Merit or equivalent 33 39 
Pass or equivalent 15 18 
Cumulative Pass 80 94 
Fail 5 6 
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Table 2: Comparison with previous year (all figures are percentages) 
 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
 % % % % % 

Distinction or equivalent 35 33 41 42 38 
Merit or equivalent 43 47 39 46 39 
Pass or equivalent 14 17 12 6 18 
Cumulative pass rate 92 97 92 94 94 
Fail 8 3 8 6 6 

 
Table 3:  General pass rate at each grade level (as percentages) 

 
Year A* A B C D E F G U   % 

2018 14 23 21 18 9 6 3 2 2 98 

2019 14 21 23 19 12 7 3 1 1 100 

2020 23 21 19 19 9 5 2 1 1 100 

2021 27 20 18 17 8 4 4 1 1 100 

2022 17 20 23 16 9 6 4 2 3 100 

  
Section B: 2022 IB Diploma Results Summary  
 
Total number of DP candidates: 79 
Number of candidates who passed the diploma: 75 
DP success rate: 94.9% 
Highest diploma points awarded to a candidate: 43 
Average points obtained by candidates: 32 
Number of bilingual diplomas obtained:  60% 
Average grade obtained by candidates: 5.19 
% of students scoring 40 points and above: 8%                           
 
Table 4: Comparison with previous years 
 

 
Year 

No. of students % Pass Average diploma 
points 

Highest diploma 
points 

Average grade 

2018 51 86.3 31 43 5.26 
2019 68 95.5 33 45 5.31 
2020 80 92.5 34 44 5.34 
2021 57 96.5 35 43 5.53 
2022 79 94.9 32 43 5.19 
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Summary of IB Diploma Attainment Requirements 
 

IB Diploma Programme  
Components & Possible IB 

Result Scores 
SUBJECTS 

Group 1: Language & Literature 1 - 7 
Group 2: Language Acquisition  1 - 7 
Group 3: Individuals & Societies  1 - 7 
Group 4: Sciences 1 - 7 
Group 5: Mathematics 1 - 7 
Group 6: The Arts or IB Elective  1 - 7 
 
At least 3 but no more than 4 subjects  
must be completed at Higher Level (HL). 
Only 6 IB subjects – one in each of these 
groups – may contribute to the IB Diploma 
total score. 
 

          CORE REQUIREMENTS 
Theory of Knowledge (ToK) A - E 
Extended Essay (EE) A - E 
 
Creativity-Action-Service (CAS) 
 

CAS is pass/fail; CAS requirements are 
either met or not met (no numerical or letter 
score is assigned). If not met, the candidate 
will automatically be disqualified from 
receiving the IB Diploma. 
 
Key Reminders:HL – “Higher Level”   
SL – “Standard Level” 
 

Points & Conditions Necessary to Successfully Earn the IB Diploma 
 

● An IB subject result must have been awarded for each of the six IB 
Diploma subjects, ToK, and the Extended Essay.  
(Student must not have any scores of “N” – meaning “NO MARK” 
– due to malpractice or failure to submit an assessment component.) 

● CAS requirements must be met. 

● Student must have a score of D or higher in both Theory of 
Knowledge and the Extended Essay (no E score or N). 

● Student must earn at least 24 in total points.  
(45 total points possible – 42 from IB subjects plus 3 from ToK/EE) 

o The student must earn a total of at least 12 points in HL subjects  
(for candidates who register for four HL subjects, the three 
highest HL grades will count toward this total). 

o Students who take 3 HL and 3 SL subjects must earn  
at least 9 points total in the SL subjects. 

o Students who take 4 HL and 2 SL subjects must earn  
at least 5 points total in the SL subjects. 

● The student must earn a 2 or higher in all subjects (no scores of 1). 

o There may be no more than two scores of 2, overall. 

o There may be no more than three scores of 3 or lower, overall. 

The above requirements relate to the official Subject Results the student earns 
from IB. These requirements are set by IB, not LBIS. IB Subject Results and IB 
 
 
Diploma Results are available to students in early January after the completion 
of their senior year. 

 
Section C: IB Middle Years Programme (MYP) Results 
 
2022 was the second year the school had students complete the IBMYP eAssessments. A small cohort of 30 Form 5 
students followed a purely IBMYP approach from January 2022 until the online exams in November. The overall pass 
rate was 75%. There were some excellent individual scores and solid performances across various subjects. Students 
had the most problem with maths, with 6 out of the 10 failing students scoring a 2 (to get the certificate, students must 
have a 3 or above in all of their subjects. The world average score for Maths was 3.19, which is very low. The school 
made an official complaint to IB about the grade boundaries for this subject.  
 
In most of the subject areas (including Maths) LBIS students scored above the world average.  
 
All students met the rerequisites to continue their studies in either the Diploma Programme (DP) or the Career-related 
Programme (CP).  
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Section D: IB Career-related Programme (CP) Results 
There was a 100% pass rate this in both Business and Sports BTEC and CP. It was also the first time we have had a 
student get a Bilingual Programme in the CP.  
 
Value-Adding 
 
All of the IB and IGCSE results are subject to careful scrutiny and analysis in order to identify success factors and value-
added points that would enhance the school performance. The results are used to ensure on-going improvements in 
teaching and learning across the school, with a particular focus on the on-going development and implementation of 
more effective instructional strategies. 
 
UNIVERSITY ADMISSIONS 
 
After Form 7, students from LBIS have continued to find places in a wide range of universities around the world. Once 
again, there was a trend of students studying in the United Kingdom. A large number of our 2021 graduates also opted 
for Canada, Mauritius and European Countries. The students are enrolled in a wide range of different courses. 
However, the most popular areas are Business Management, Finance, Computer Science, Engineering and Medicine. 
Psychology, Marketing and law were also popular. 
 
The table below gives information about the countries in which our 2021 graduates are studying. 
 
 

Country Number % 
      

UK 22 30.1% 

Mauritius  14 19.2% 

Other 12 16.4% 

USA  9 12.3% 

Canada  8 11.0% 

Europe 4 5.5% 

Australia  2 2.7% 

South Africa  2 2.7% 

TOTAL 73 100.0% 
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COMMENTARY FROM THE BOARD (CONTINUED) 
 
UNIVERSITY ADMISSIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

 
 
 
SCHOOL COMMUNITY, LIFE AND CULTURE 
 
The commitment to provide “a balanced and holistic education” (SGS, Philosophy No.2) lies at the heart of the school, as 
well as a desire to “encourage open and respectful communication and collaboration” (SGS, Philosophy No.4). As such, the 
school continues to expand and develop its extra-curricular activities whilst consolidating its strengths in this vital area 
of the school curriculum.   
 
The Duke of Edinburgh International Award (DOEI) 
 
The Duke of Edinburgh International Award (DOEI) continues to play an important part in the life of Le Bocage. The 
DOEI lies at the heart of the school’s philosophy and its beliefs in encouraging “initiative, the confidence to take risks, and 
the ability to reflect and learn from mistakes” (SGS, Philosophy No. 5).  
 
Sports at LBIS 
 
Unfortunately, due to Covid-19 there have been limited opportunities for students to participate in inter-college 
sporting events. Students have competed in LBIS teacher and student-led sporting events with other schools on the 
island. 
 
Learning Support Department  
 
The Learning Support Department (LSD) continues to be involved in curriculum development through unit planning, 
providing support for teachers with regards to differentiated strategies, as well as increase in-class support. In 2022, as 
in 2021, the school added an additional member of staff to the Learning Support Department. With additional staff, 
Learning Support teachers are now able to offer greater in-class support to those students who need assistance.  
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COMMENTARY FROM THE BOARD (CONTINUED) 
 
Learning Support Department (continued) 
 
LBIS ran a very successful “Bigs & Littles” campaign in 2022. Students in Forms 4 and 6 were assigned to all the 
incoming Form 1 students, as a type of mentor/role model. The programme started off during DLP, and extended once 
face-to-face classes resumed. The younger students were very grateful to get to know and work with some of the older 
students, and the overall achievement was a great success as it helped to promote “caring and principled behaviour” 
(SGS, Philosophy No.1).  
 
World Creole Language Day 2022 
 
The Modern Languages Department in collaboration with other departments organised and hosted the tenth World 
Creole Day at LBIS. This assembly was a truly community affair that reinforced our appreciation of celebrating cultural 
diversity as well as the culture in which we live.  
 
School Facilities  
 
The school site currently consists of four main buildings comprising 41 classrooms and specialist areas including: 
Multipurpose hall (MPH), Library, Science Laboratories, Information Technology, Music room, Art studio, Theatre and 
recording studio, and Learning Support. Board approval has been given for the construction of an additional building 
that will house two classrooms and storage facilities.  
 
The school is continuously building on its commitment to the environment. Since its installation in February 2012 until 
end of May 2023, the photovoltaic cells have produced 95,341 kWh of electricity. Out of this amount, 41,766 kWh (44%) 
have been exported to the Central Electricity Board, and the rest used by the school buildings including the Performing 
Arts Area. We estimate the total savings made on our electricity bills, from February 2012 to May to be Rs 535,000. In 
addition, the rainwater retention tank is being used to distribute water to the washrooms and bathrooms of the 
Multipurpose hall. The school continues to promote recycling in the community with the facilities to recycle plastic, 
paper and carton. The recycling container was emptied 18 times during 2022. 
 
DIRECTORS 
 
The following directors held office during the year ended 31 December 2022: 
 

Name Date of appointment 
Jean-Paul de Chazal (Chairperson) 26 July 1999 
Olga Chung Kho Pyng (Brigitte) Lee 01 July 2004 
Gong Ming Chen 08 April 2013 
Philippe A.Forget 26 August 1996 

Shikha Gujadhur 01 October 2018 

Janine Rivalland 03 April 2017 
Pamela Somanah 07 November 2016 
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COMMENTARY FROM THE BOARD (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS 
 
None of the directors have service contracts (2021: nil). 
 
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
 
None of the directors received any remuneration or benefits from the Company (2021: nil). 
 
AUDITOR 
 
The fees paid to the auditor, Ernst & Young, were: 
 2022  2021 
    Rs    Rs 
    
Audit fees 411,700 353,050 
 
The auditor has indicated its willingness to continue in office and will be automatically reappointed at the next Annual 
Meeting. 
 
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year which present fairly the 
financial position, financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Company. In preparing those financial 
statements, the directors are required to: 

 
● Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
● Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
● State whether International Financial Reporting Standards have been followed, subject to any material 

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 
● Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Company will continue in business. 
 

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements. 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose, with reasonable accuracy at any 
time, the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2001. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Directors have made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason 
to believe that the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead and are satisfied that the company has the 
resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future 
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A SUMMARY OF THE MAJOR DEVELOPMENT TARGETS AS AT MARCH 2023. 
 
After a review of the 2021-2023 Action Plan, the school community developed the 2023-2025 Action Plan which is 
formulated around the Council of International Schools (CIS) International Accreditation Framework. The Framework 
follows eight different areas (Domains) of focus: 
 
A Purpose and Direction 
B Government, Leadership and Ownership 
C The Curriculum 
D Teaching and Assessing for Learning 
E The Students Learning and Well-being 
F Staffing 
G Premises and Physical Accommodation 
H Community and Home Partnership 
 
The SAP (Strategic Action Plan) is a live document which is kept updated with new targets being added on a regular 
basis. Those targets that have been met are still included as a means to identify goals met and progress made. The SAP 
is uploaded to the school website with revisions included.  
 
Some of the main action points are those that were identified as areas for further development after the CIS and IB 
synchronized visit in May 2021. More action points will be identified in the 2023 Community in May.   
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Le Bocage International School (LBIS) is the business 
name of PROGOS, a not-for-profit company 
incorporated with limited liability under the 
Companies Act 2001.  
 
Who runs LBIS? 
 
The day-to-day leadership and management of the 
school is the responsibility of the Head, Mr. David 
Jenkins, who is appointed by the Board of Directors. All 
other appointments are made by the Head and/or the 
relevant school principal. On all matters concerning the 
education of the students, the Head works closely with 
the educational quality management team, comprising 
the two Principals, the respective coordinators of our 
three educational programmes, the scheduler and a 
representative from the pastoral coordination team. On 
administrative matters, the Head works closely with 
the operations team, comprising the Business Manager, 
Maintenance Manager and a representative from the 
office team. 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for developing the 
school’s mission, appointing, evaluating and 
supporting the Head, strategic planning, policy setting 
and the financial health of the school. The current 
strategic plan runs from 2018 to 2021 and was created 
in close collaboration with the Head, the faculty and 
parents. 
 
What are the major operational costs at LBIS? 
 
LBIS is a not-for-profit school, hence all the income 
received is invested back into teachers and staff, 
programmes for students, and the appropriate facilities 
to achieve the school’s mission. Our annual costs are in 
the following three areas:  
 
● The cost of employing and retaining good staff, 

represents 72.0 % of total costs (2021: 71.0%).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

● Administrative costs which represent 19.5% of 
total costs (2021: 20.0%) 

 
● The depreciation of assets, whch represents 8.5 % 

of total costs (2021: 9.0%). 
 

 
 
The costs of employing and retaining good staff makes 
for high quality teaching and though this is excellent for 
our teaching goals, quality does not come cheap. 
However, given the quality of our IB Diploma 
programme, LBIS gives excellent value for money 
when compared to other more expensive international 
schools (see CIS International Schools Directory for 
tuition fees). 
 
What is the whole school student to teacher ratio at 
LBIS? 
 
It is 11.3:1 (cf 9.0:1 in 2021). 
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What was LBIS’s income in 2022? 
Rs 172.5 m (2021: Rs 164.2 m) came from LBIS’s core 
activities (tuition fees and capital levy). A further Rs 
10.4 m (2021: Rs 9.5 m) came from other sources (such 
as book and iPad rentals and sales of uniforms) 
 

 
 
 
LBIS is a developing school and in 2022 it has 
reinvested Rs 27.2 m (2021: Rs 11.1 m) in school 
improvement projects. The mainstay of its financial 
stability is its positive cash flows.  
 
What proportion of the total income is spent on staff 
costs? 
 
Approximately 72.4 % (2021: 69.4%) goes on staff costs. 
In 2022, this figure was Rs 132.5 m (2021: Rs 120.6 m).  
 
How many staff are employed by LBIS? 
 
 2022  2021 
    
Teaching  88  84
Support 19  19
Administrative 16  16
Educational Support 13  14
  
Total 136  133
 
 
 
Where do administrative and educational support staff 
operate? 
 
Administrative Staff: 
Secretarial Staff: 6 
 

 
 
Finance: 4 
Network Administrator: 1 
Maintenance Manager: 1 
Health and Safety: 1  
Uniform Shop: 1 
Reception: 1 
Driver: 1 
 
Educational support staff: 
Technicians: 6 
Library: 3 
Counselor: 3 
Nurse: 1 
 
How does the budget-making process work? 
  
Budgets in principle are built from zero each year. The 
budget holders are the Head, the Principals, Heads of 
Department and other responsibility post holders. Each 
has the responsibility of looking at the needs of his or 
her department and building the requisite budget. 
After a period of discussion and negotiation, budgets 
are finalised by the Head, scrutinised and challenged 
by the Board’s Finance Committee and then ratified by 
the Board. 
 
What insurance cover do we offer students? 
 
All students (and staff) are covered by a 24-hour 
personal accident policy. 
 
How do we know we are financially efficient? 
 
There are many checks and balances to ensure financial 
efficiency. On a day-to-day basis, it is the prime role of 
the Business Manager, who reports to the Head, to 
ensure that the school is managed in an efficient and 
financially responsible way. The Finance Committee 
meets regularly with the Head and Business Manager 
and has a continuing overview of the financial 
processes, as does the entire Board, through a system of 
regular reporting. Our accounts are audited by an 
external auditor (Ernst & Young) each year. 
Accreditation by the Council of International Schools 
indicates that our financial practices are meeting the 
high standards required.    





 

 

Ernst & Young Mauritius 
6th Floor, IconEbene 
Rue de L’institut 
Ebene, Mauritius  
 

 Tel: +230 403 4777 
Fax: +230 403 4700 
www.ey.com 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
TO THE MEMBERS OF PROGOS 

 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial statements of PROGOS (the “Company”) set out on pages 20 to 52 which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 
December 2022, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and comply with the Companies Act 2001. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants‘ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”) and other independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements of the Company and in Mauritius.  We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits of the Company and in Mauritius. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Other Information 
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled ‘’2022 Annual report PROGOS Le Bocage International School’’, which includes 
the Corporate Data, the Commentary from the Head, Commentary from the Board, A summary of the major 
development targets as at March 2023, Financial Highlights and the Secretary’s certificate as required by the 
Companies Act 2001. 
 
The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit 
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2001, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
TO THE MEMBERS OF PROGOS 

 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.  
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.  
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  
 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit.  
 
 
  



 

 

 

 
19. 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 
TO THE MEMBERS OF PROGOS 

 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 205 of the 
Companies Act 2001. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS  
 
Companies Act 2001 
 
We have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacity as auditor and dealings in 
the ordinary course of business.   
 
We have obtained all the information and explanations we have required.   
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as it appears from our 
examination of those records. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                            
 
 
 
ERNST & YOUNG WINDA CHEVALIER, F.C.C.A. 
Ebène, Mauritius Licensed by FRC 
 
 
Date: 26 July 2023 
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Notes 2022 2021

Rs Rs

Income
Revenue from contract with customers 16 172,522,513   164,197,968   
Other operating income 17 10,025,078     9,450,970       

182,547,591   173,648,938   

Expenditure
School running expenses 161,436,413   148,066,257   
Administrative expenses 22,637,708     21,733,098     

184,074,121   169,799,355   

Operating (deficit) / surplus 18 (1,526,530)      3,849,583       
Finance income 20 392,009          134,164          

Finance costs 21 (11,363)           (11,812)           

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year (1,145,884)      3,971,935       

Other comprehensive income for the year

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 

Actuarial gains on defined benefits plan 13(n) 2,716,000       7,789,000       

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,570,116       11,760,935     

The notes on pages 24 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent Auditor's report on pages 17 to 19
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Issued Calls in Retained

capital advance surplus Total

Rs Rs Rs Rs

At 01 January 2021 6,950,000    544,884       106,489,038   113,983,922    

Surplus for the year -              -              3,971,935       3,971,935        

Other comprehensive income for the year -              -              7,789,000       7,789,000        

Total comprehensive income for the year -              -              11,760,935     11,760,935      

At 31 December 2021 6,950,000    544,884       118,249,973   125,744,857    

Deficit for the year -              (1,145,884)      (1,145,884)       

Other comprehensive income for the year -              -              2,716,000       2,716,000        

Total comprehensive income for the year -              -              1,570,116       1,570,116        

At 31 December 2022 6,950,000    544,884       119,820,089   127,314,973    

The notes on pages 24 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent Auditor's report on pages 17 to 19
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Notes  2022 2021

Rs Rs

Operating activities  
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year (1,145,884)       3,971,935          
Adjustments for non-cash transactions:

- Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 5 15,521,621      14,930,576        
5 826,338           751,164             

- Gain on disposal of property,plant and equipment -                   -                     
- Amortisation of intangible assets 6 46,077             127,867             

- Amortisation of right of use asset 7 126,937           200,808             
- Decrease in allowance for credit losses 9 (26,301)            -                     
- Finance income 20 (392,009)          (134,164)           
- Finance costs 21 11,363             11,812               
- Retirement benefit obligations recognised in profit or loss 13 (m) 5,981,000        2,541,000          
Working capital adjustments:
- (Increase)/decrease in inventories (185,407)          2,620,174          
- Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 264,074           (954,837)           
- (Decrease )/Increase in trade and other payables (7,415,964)       17,692,575        

13,611,845      41,758,910        
Interest received 20 392,009           134,164             

13 (e) & (g) (161,271)          (17,754,432)      

Net cash flows from operating activities  13,842,583      24,138,642        

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 5 (27,168,337)     (11,056,427)      
Purchase of intangible assets 6 -                   (13,456)             

Net cash flows used in investing activities (27,168,337)     (11,069,883)      

Financing activities
Interest paid 21 (11,363)            (11,812)             
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 7 (130,058)          (210,440)           

Net cash flows used in financing activities (141,421)          (222,252)           

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (13,467,175)     12,846,507        
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 52,566,484      39,719,977        

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 11 39,099,310      52,566,484        

The notes on pages 24 to 52 form an integral part of these financial statements.
Independent Auditor's report on pages 17 to 19

-Write off of property,plant and equipment

Employer contributions paid for unfunded retirement benefit obligations 
and direct benefits paid
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1.1 CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

Progos (the “Company”) is a public company incorporated in Mauritius under the Companies Act 2001 as a 
not-for-profit company with limited liability.  It is a co-educational institution dedicated to the pursuit of 
excellence in education.  Its registered office is situated at c/o ECS SECRETARIES LTD, 3rd Floor, Labama 
House, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis.  The principal activity of the Company is the owning and 
operating of a quality, fee paying and approved, international secondary school called “Le Bocage 
International School”.   

 
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The preparation of the 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) requires the use 
of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting year. Although these 
estimates are based on the management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may 
ultimately differ from those estimates. 
 
The financial statements are presented in rupees rounded to the nearest rupee except where otherwise              
indicated 

 
Statement of compliance 

 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).   

 
2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES  
 

New and amended Standards and Interpretations 
 
The following new standards and Interpretations were effective for this financial year, none of which had an 
impact on the financial statements 

 
 
 
 

Effective for 
accounting 
period beginning 
on or after 

Amendments  
 Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3 1 January 2022 
 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments 

to IAS 16 
1 January 2022 

 Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to IAS 3 
AIP IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards — 
Subsidiary as a first-time adopter 

1 January 2022 

 AIP IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for 
derecognition of financial liabilities 

1 January 2022 

 AIP IAS 41 Agriculture — Taxation in fair value measurements 1 January 2022 
 
 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
As part of its 2018-2020 annual improvements to IFRS standards process the IASB issued amendment to IFRS 
9. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or 
modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These 
fees include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received 
by either the borrower or lender on the other's behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial liabilities 
that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity 
first applies the amendment. The amendments do not have a material impact on the Company 
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2.3  ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

 
A number of new standards, amendments to existing standards and interpretations have been issued and are 
not yet effective at the date of issuance of the financial statements of the Company. The Company has not yet 
fully assessed the impact on its financial statements and does not intend to early adopt these standards and 
interpretations.  

    
 
 
 

Effective for 
accounting 
period beginning 
on or after 

 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 Jan 2023 
 Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8 1 Jan 2023 
 Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 

Statement 2 
1 Jan 2023 

 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction – Amendments to IAS 12 

1 Jan 2023 

 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1 1 Jan 2024 
 Lease liability in a sale and lease back – Amendments to IFRS 16 1 Jan 2024 

 
Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 
 
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS 1 to specify the requirements for 
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: 
 
 What is meant by a right to defer settlement 
 That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 
 That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 
 That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms 

of a liability not impact its classification 
 

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and must be 
applied retrospectively. The Company is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current 
practice and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation. 
 

       Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8 
 

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting  
estimates’. The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in 
accounting policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement techniques  
and inputs to develop accounting estimates.  
 
The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to 
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. 
Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. 
 

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
      Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 
 

In February 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality 
Judgements (the PS), in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to 
accounting policy disclosures. 

The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by: 

Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to 
disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies 
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2.3 ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
(CONTINUED) 

 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (Continued) 

And 

 Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting 
policy disclosures 
 

     Replacement of the term ‘significant’ with ‘material’ 
 

In the absence of a definition of the term ‘significant’ in IFRS, the Board decided to replace it with ‘material’ 
in the context of disclosing accounting policy information. ‘Material’ is a defined term in IFRS and is widely 
understood by the users of financial statements, according to the Board. 
In assessing the materiality of accounting policy information, entities need to consider both the size of the 
transactions, other events or conditions and the nature of them. 
 
Examples of circumstances in which an entity is likely to consider accounting policy information to be 
material      have been added. 
Earlier application of the amendments to IAS 1 is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed. 
Since the amendments to the PS provide non-mandatory guidance on the application of the definition of 
material to accounting policy information, the Board concluded that transition requirements and an effective 
date for these amendments were not necessary. 

 
3.1  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
 Foreign currency translation 

 
The Company’s financial statements are presented in Mauritian rupees (‘’Rs’’) which is the Company’s 
functional currency and also its presentation currency. Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the 
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date.  
 
All differences are taken to the statement of comprehensive income except for exchange gains and losses 
relating to the tertiary scholarship fund which are credited or debited to the tertiary scholarship fund. 

 
 Property, plant and equipment  

 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.  Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment. 
Likewise, when a major repair is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying amount of the property, 
plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 
 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of the assets less their estimated 
residual values over their expected useful lives as follows: 

 

 
 
 

Asset Category Rate(%) 
Buildings 2 – 4 
School infrastructure 5 
Furniture and fittings 20 
Computer equipment 20 –25 
Laboratory equipment 20 
Books (Forms 1-3) 20 
Motor vehicles 20 
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 

   
         Freehold land is not depreciated.  

 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year the asset is derecognised. 
 
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed and adjusted, if 
appropriate, at each financial year end.  
 

         Intangible assets 
 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite 
lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an 
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset 
is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible 
asset.   

 
Computer software is treated as an intangible asset with a finite life and is amortised over four years on a 
straight line basis.  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but assessed for 
impairment at least annually. 
 
Asset in progress 
 
Assets in progress relate to the costs to construct non-current assets. Once an asset is available for use, all 
costs associated with it that are stored in the assets in progress are shifted into whichever class of assets is 
most appropriate. While costs are being accumulated for the assets in progress, the Company does not 
start depreciating the asset, because it is not yet available for use. Once the asset is available for use and 
shifted to its final class of assets, depreciation will start. 
 
Books 4-7 
 
Books for forms 4-7 are written-off over two years. 
 
Financial instruments 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity. 

 
(i) (a)  Classification 

The Company classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition into the categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities discussed below.  

 
In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be held for trading if:  
 
(a)  It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or 
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Financial instruments (Continued) 
 
(i) (a)  Classification 

(b)  On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed 
together and for which, there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking or  
 

(c)  It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument)  

 
Financial assets  
 
The Company classifies its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised cost or measured at fair 
value through profit or loss on the basis of both:  
 
 The entity’s business model for managing the financial assets  
 The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset 

         Financial assets measured at amortised cost  
 

A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and its contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
The Company includes in this category trade and other receivables and cash at bank and in hand. 
 
Financial liabilities   
 

        Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 
 

A financial liability is measured at FVPL if it meets the definition of held for trading. The Company does not 
have any liabilities involved under this category. 
 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
 
This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
The Company includes in this category bank overdrafts, lease liabilities and trade and other payables. 

 
Recognition 

 
The Company recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when it becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are 
recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 

        Initial measurement 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair 
value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit or loss. Financial assets and 
liabilities (other than those classified as at FVPL) are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly 
attributable incremental costs of acquisition or issue. 
 
Subsequent measurement 

 
After initial measurement, the Company measures financial instruments which are classified as at FVPL at 
fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are recorded in net gain or loss 
on financial assets and liabilities at FVPL in the statement of comprehensive income. Interest and dividends 
earned or paid on these instruments are recorded separately in interest revenue or expense and dividend 
revenue or expense in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Subsequent measurement (Continued) 
 
Debt instruments, other than those classified as at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the debt instruments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as 
well as through the amortisation process. 
 
The effective interest method (EIR) is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability and of allocating and recognising the interest income or interest expense in profit or loss 
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of the financial liability. When calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instruments, but does not consider expected credit losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received 
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all 
other premiums or discounts. 
 

         Derecognition 
 

Financial assets 
 
A financial asset or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets is 
derecognised when: 

 
 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or 
 
 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through' 
arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

 
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor 
transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the 
Company’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognises an associated liability.  

 
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Company has retained.  

 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 
Company could be required to repay.  

 
Financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. 
 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a de-recognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Impairment of financial assets  
 
The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 

 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 
possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

 
For trade receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the 
Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs 
at each reporting date. The company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

 
The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or 
external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in  
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset is written off 
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

 
       Impairment of non-financial assets 
 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the 
asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's 
(CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the 
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  In determining fair value less costs 
to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, 
quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 
 
Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in those 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset except for property previously re-valued 
where the revaluation was taken to OCI.  In this case the impairment is also recognised in OCI up to the 
amount of any previous revaluation. 
 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any 
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Company estimates the asset's or cash generating unit's recoverable amount.  A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to 
determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is 
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.  
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  
 Inventories 
 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined on an average cost 
basis. Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business less selling 
expenses. Where necessary a write off is made for obsolete stock and recognized in cost of sales. A provision 
is made at the end of each financial year to provide for loss in the value of stock held, likely to be incurred 
through obsolescence, damage, expired shelf life, or lack of historic and future expected movement. This 
provision is reviewed in the coming year. 

 
 Tertiary scholarship scheme  
 

The Company operates a scholarship scheme for its students who have performed well in the International 
Baccalaureate examination. The scheme is funded, in equal share, by contributions received from private 
sponsors and the Company and is administered by the Company. Contributions and interest received, 
scholarships paid and refunded and gains/(losses) on exchange are dealt with in the Tertiary Scholarship 
Fund account. 

 
 Provisions  
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.  The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement.   
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that 
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 
 Pension and other retirement plans 
 

Retirement benefits to employees of the Company were provided by a defined benefit scheme, which was 
converted into a defined contribution retirement plan for all qualifying employees on 01 January 2004.  
Payments to the defined contribution retirement plan are charged as an expense in profit or loss as they fall 
due. 

 
Some members of the defined contribution retirement benefit plan are entitled to a “No Worse off 
Guarantee” based on the benefits of the defined benefit scheme, that is, an annual non-increasing member’s 
pension of 1/60th of the annual salary at retirement date per year of service, as from the age of 60.  The 
pension is guaranteed for five years. 

 
The pension obligation under the “No Worse off Guarantee” is measured as the present value of the 
estimated future cash outflows using a discount rate by reference to current interest rates and the yields on 
Treasury Bills and recent corporate debenture issues.   
 
Actuarial gains and losses for the defined benefit plan are recognised in full in the period in which they occur 
in other comprehensive income. Such actuarial gains and losses are also immediately recognised in retained 
earnings and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 
charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. 
 
Where employees are not covered under any pension plan, the retirement gratuity payable under The 
Workers' Rights Act 2019 has been calculated and provided for. 
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  
  Revenue from contracts with customers  
 

The Company is a fee paying secondary school. Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when 
control of the services is transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those services. The Company has generally concluded that it 
is the principal in its revenue arrangements since it is the primary obligor in all the revenue arrangements, 
has pricing latitude, and is also exposed to credit risks. 
 
The disclosures of significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions relating to revenue from 
contracts with customers are provided in Note 16. 
 
- Services transferred at a point in time 
 
Revenue from other services are recognised at a point in time, generally upon delivery of the service. They 
comprise mainly of rental of books, rental of the multi-purpose hall and sales of electricity to CEB. 

 
Contract balances  
 
Contract assets 
  
A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. If 
the Company performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays 
consideration or before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is 
conditional.  
 
Trade receivables  
 
A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only 
the passage of time is required before payment of the consideration is due). Refer to accounting policies of 
financial assets.   
 
Contract liabilities (Capital levy) 
 
A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has 
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays 
consideration before the Company transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract liability is 
recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are 
recognised as revenue when the Company performs under the contract.  
 
Interest income  
 
Interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. The EIR is the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Interest income is included in 
finance income in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
 

         Related parties 
 

Related parties are individuals and companies where the individual or company has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial 
and operating decisions. 
 

 Stated capital 
 

 Stated capital is comprised of ordinary shares at nominal value. 
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
 Leases 

 
The Company assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract                
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
 

        The Company as a lessee  
 
The Company applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.  
 
i) Right-of-use assets  

 
The Company recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows:  
 
Photocopier machine: 5 years  
 
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the 
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. 
 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment whenever there is an indication that the right-of-used 
asset may be impaired. 
 
ii) Lease liabilities  

 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in-substance fixed payments) excluding any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The 
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 
Company and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Company 
exercising the option to terminate.  
 
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are 
incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment 
occurs. 
  
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and 
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future 
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in 
the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.  
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3.1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
        The Company as a lessee (Continued) 
 

i) Short-term leases and leases of low value  
 

The Company applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term office rent lease (i.e., lease 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). The Company does not have lease of low-value. Lease payments on short-term lease are recognised 
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 
The Company as a lessor  
 
Leases in which the Company does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its 
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to 
the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental 
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned. 
 

 Cash at bank 
  
Cash in the statement of financial position comprises cash at bank and in hand which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value. 
  
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and in 
hand. 
 

 Expenses 
 
 All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis. 
 
 Current versus non-current classification 
 

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. An asset is current when it is:   
 
• Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle  
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading  
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or  
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least                                       

twelve months after the reporting period.  
  

A liability is current when:   
 
• It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle  
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading  
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or  
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the   

reporting period.   
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS  

 
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities at the 
reporting date.  However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 

 
Judgements 
 
In the process of applying the Company's accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
 

         Determining the lease term of contracts with new renewal and termination Options-Company as lessee 
 
The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by 
an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised. The Company has a lease 
contract that include extension and termination options. The Company applies judgement in evaluating 
whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, 
it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or 
termination. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the leased term if there is a significant 
event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise 
the option to renew or terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant 
customisation to the leased asset).   

 
Estimates and assumptions 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting 
date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below: 

 
Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment 

 
Determining the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment requires the estimation of the useful 
lives and residual values of these assets. Certain property, plant and equipment of the Company are 
separated into their significant parts and estimates of the useful lives and residual values thereof are made 
for the purposes of calculating depreciation. The estimates of useful lives and residual values carry a degree 
of uncertainty. The directors have used historical information relating to the Company in order to 
best determine the useful lives and the residual values of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The Company assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets at each 
reporting date. Non-financial assets with finite lives are tested for impairment when there are indicators that 
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Refer to Note 5 for more details. 

 
         Retirement benefit obligations 

 
In determining the provision for retirement benefit obligations under the Company’s “No Worse off 
Guarantee” and severance allowance under the Workers’ Rights Act 2019, the directors have used certain 
assumptions regarding the future which are based on current conditions.  Future changes in these 
assumptions could affect the carrying values of these retirement benefit obligations.   
 
The assumptions used include the discount rate, expected rate of return on plan assets, future salary 
increases and mortality rates. Further details are provided in Note 13. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
         Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables 
 

The Company uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are based                  
on a variety of factors, including the overall quality and ageing of the receivables, continuing credit 
evaluation of the customer’s financial conditions. 
 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Company’s historical observed default rates. The Company will 
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For 
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the 
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the historical default rates are adjusted. At 
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking 
estimates are analysed. 
 

 The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and 
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast 
economic conditions. The Company’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions 
may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in the future.  
 
Given the limited exposure of the Company to credit risk, this amendment has not had a material impact on 
the financial statements. The Company only holds trade receivables with no financing component and which 
have maturities of less than 12 months at amortised cost and therefore has adopted an approach similar to 
the simplified approach to ECLs. 
 
For ECLs approach please refer to note 23 on credit risk. 

 
Leases- Estimating the incremental borrowing rate 
 
The Company cannot readily determine the interest implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have 
to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a 
similar value to the right of use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the 
Company ‘would have pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or when they 
need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. 
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Freehold land School Furniture Computer Laboratory Motor Asset in
2022 and buildings infrastructure and fittings equipment equipment Books vehicles Progress* TOTAL

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
COST:

At 01 January 2021 96,828,339      99,798,864    41,493,618    65,692,115   6,305,730      35,280,664    4,375,751      4,183,848    353,958,929   
Additions -                   5,242,787      1,648,999      5,576,292     58,764           3,195,493      -                 11,446,002  27,168,337     
Transfers -                   100,000         -                 -                -                 -                 -                 (100,000)      -                  
Write off -                   -                 -                 -                -                 (826,338)        -                 -               (826,338)         
At 31 December 2022 96,828,339      105,141,651  43,142,617    71,268,407   6,364,494      37,649,819    4,375,751      15,529,850  380,300,928   

DEPRECIATION:

At 01 January 2021 40,567,606      46,625,632    36,905,397    63,958,978   5,889,353      32,936,089    4,017,741      -               230,900,796   
Charge for the year 2,712,778        4,591,825      2,612,325      3,543,085     279,050         1,424,548      358,010         -               15,521,621     
At 31 December 2022 43,280,384      51,217,457    39,517,722    67,502,063   6,168,403      34,360,637    4,375,751      -               246,422,417   

NET BOOK VALUES:

At 31 December 2022 53,547,955      53,924,194    3,624,895      3,766,344     196,091         3,289,182      -                 15,529,850  133,878,511   

At 31 December 2021 56,260,733      53,173,232    4,588,221      1,733,137     416,377         2,344,575      358,010         4,183,848    123,058,133   

**The transfers relate to assets in progress that have been completed in 2022.
***The Rs 826,338  refer to books which the Company has decided to write off as those books are given to students rather than used over 5 years.

*Assets in progress relate to school infrastructure under construction. As of 31.05.2023  Rs 1,728,293 out of the Rs 15,529,851 has been capitalised.
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Freehold land School Furniture Computer Laboratory Motor Asset in
2021 and buildings infrastructure and fittings equipment equipment Books vehicles Progress* TOTAL

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs
COST:

At 01 January 2021 96,242,339    97,582,386    40,918,283    62,207,937    6,082,717      34,321,461    4,375,751      1,956,453    343,687,327    
Additions -                 1,980,428      515,785         3,517,839      223,013         1,427,948      -                 3,391,414    11,056,427      
Transfers** 586,000         236,050         59,550           -                 -                 282,419         -                 (1,164,019)   -                  
Write off*** -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 (751,164)        -                 -               (751,164)         
Disposal -                 -                 -                 (33,661)          -                 -                 -                 -               (33,661)           
At 31 December 2021 96,828,339    99,798,864    41,493,618    65,692,115    6,305,730      35,280,664    4,375,751      4,183,848    353,958,929    

DEPRECIATION:

At 01 January 2021 37,852,662    41,899,026    33,776,184    61,412,222    5,491,798      31,912,248    3,659,741      -               216,003,881    
Charge for the year 2,714,944      4,726,606      3,129,213      2,580,417      397,555         1,023,841      358,000         -               14,930,576      
Disposal -                 -                 -                 (33,661)          -                 -                 -                 -               (33,661)           
At 31 December 2021 40,567,606    46,625,632    36,905,397    63,958,978    5,889,353      32,936,089    4,017,741      -               230,900,796    

NET BOOK VALUES:

At 31 December 2021 56,260,733    53,173,232    4,588,221      1,733,137      416,377         2,344,575      358,010         4,183,848    123,058,133    

At 31 December 2020 58,389,677    55,683,360    7,142,099      795,715         590,919         2,409,213      716,010         1,956,453    127,683,446    

**The transfers relate to assets in progress that have been completed in 2021.

*Assets in progress relate to school infrastructure under construction. As of 31.05.2022 Rs 100,000 out of the Rs 4,183,848 has been capitalised.

***The Rs 751,164 refer to books which the Company has decided to write off as those books are given to students rather than used over 5 years.
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2022 2021

Cost Rs Rs

At 01 January 1,770,666          1,757,210          
Addition -                     13,456               

At 31 December 1,770,666          1,770,666          

Amortisation

At 01 January 1,693,273          1,565,406          
Charge for the year 46,077               127,867             

At 31 December 1,739,350          1,693,273          

Net Book Value at 31 December 31,316               77,393               

7. RIGHT OF USE ASSET AND LEASES

7.1 Company as a lessee

Right-of-use asset

2022 2021

Cost Rs Rs

At 01 January 83,669               284,477             
Addition 519,219             -
Amortisation (126,937)            (200,808)            
At 31 December 475,951             83,669               

2022 2021

Rs Rs
At 01 January 91,562               302,002             
Additions 519,219             -                     
Accretion of interest 11,295               11,560               
Payments (141,353)            (222,000)            
At 31 December 480,723             91,562               

Analysed as:
Current 120,407             91,562               
Non-current 360,316             -                     

480,723             91,562               

The intangible assets comprise mainly of accounting and payroll softwares.

Set out below are the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset recognised and the movements during 
the period:

The amortisation is calculated over a period of 4 years . The Directors have reviewed the carrying 
value of the right-of-use asset and are of the opinion that at 31 December 2022, the carrying value has 
not suffered any impairment.

The Company has two lease contracts for two photocopier machines used in its operations. The lease
for the photocopier is on a term of 4 years which started in September 2022 and which will end in
August 2026. The Company’s obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor’s title to the leased
assets. Generally, the Company is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets. This
lease contract includes extension and termination options, which are further discussed below.

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period:
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7. RIGHT OF USE ASSET AND LEASES (CONTINUED)

7.1 Company as a lessee (continued)

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss
2022 2021

Rs Rs

Depreciation expense of right-of-use asset 126,937             200,808             
Interest expense on lease liabilities (included in finance costs) 11,295               11,560               
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 138,232             212,368             

The Company had total cash outflows for leases of Rs 141,421 in 2022 (2021: Rs 222,252). 

7.2 Company as a lessor

8. INVENTORIES
2022 2021

Rs Rs

Student Ipads -                     107,100             

Student uniforms 1,314,038          905,751             
Less: Provision for slow moving items (312,929)            (186,749)            
        : Amount written off -                     (10,400)              

1,001,109          815,702             

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2022 2021

Rs Rs

School fees receivable 3,242,368          3,211,471          
Less: Allowance for credit losses (2,240,740)         (2,267,041)         

School fees receivable - net 1,001,628          944,430             
Prepayments 5,335,676          5,244,138          
Other receivables 1,237,106          1,623,615          

7,574,410          7,812,183          

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Rs 50,206 (2021: Rs 13,458) was 
recognised in the profit and loss as provision for slow moving.  The cost of inventory sold was Rs 
1,626,313 (2021: Rs 911,611).

School fees receivable are unsecured, non-interest bearing and payable monthly in advance. At 31 
December 2022, school fees receivable at nominal value of  Rs 2,240,740 ( 2021 :Rs 2,267,041 ) were 
impaired and fully provided for. 

The Company's lease contract includes extension and termination options. These options are
negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased-asset portfolio and align
with the Company’s business needs. Management exercises significant judgement in determining
whether these extension and termination options are reasonably certain to be exercised. At 31
December 2022, it was certain that the Company would not terminate the photocopier leases before
they end ( August 2026) but no decision has been taken yet as to whether the Company will extend
the lease or not.

At 31 December 2022, the Company had recognised Rs 312,929 (2021: Rs 186,749) as provision for 
slow moving items.

The prepayments consist mainly of electronic books, books and subscriptions. Other receivables 
comprise of loan and deposits.

At 31 December 2022, the Company had received income of Rs 327,000 for the rental of its
Multipurpose Hall (2021: Rs 161,000) .



PROGOS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2022 41.

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Movements in the allowance for credit losses were as follows:
2022 2021

Rs Rs

At 01 January 2,267,041      3,850,403      
Charge 7,046             821,565         
Debtors written off (33,347)          (2,404,927)     
At 31 December 2,240,740      2,267,041      

Total < 30 days 30 - 60 days 60 - 90 days > 90 days

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs

2022 1,001,628      163,500         207,508         30,300           600,320         

2021 944,430         17,266           333,080         168,863         424,222         

10. CASH AT BANK- TERTIARY SCHOLARSHIP FUND
2022 2021

Rs Rs

At  01 January 1,261,340      1,211,951      
Bank charges (2,022)            (1,937)            
Gain on exchange 67,430           51,326           
At 31 December 1,326,748      1,261,340      

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2022 2021

Rs Rs

Cash at bank and in hand 39,336,174    52,566,938    
Bank overdraft (236,864)        (453)               

39,099,310    52,566,485    

12. ISSUED CAPITAL

Number of Number of 
shares Rs shares Rs

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of Rs 50,000 each 200                10,000,000    200                10,000,000    

Issued:
Fully paid 134                6,700,000      134                6,700,000      
Partly paid 10                  250,000         10                  250,000         

Ordinary shares of Rs 50,000 each 144                6,950,000      144                6,950,000      

Each fully paid ordinary share gives the right to its holder to one vote. Holders of partly paid shares have 
no voting rights. The partly paid shares are in respect of 10 ordinary shares for which Rs 25,000 per share 
have been paid.  There is no right to dividends as Progos is a not-for-profit Company.

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the ageing analysis of school fees receivable excluding those which are
impaired is as follows:

Past due but not impaired

2022 2021

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank overdraft limit as
at 31 December 2022 was Rs 15m.
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Funded obligations (note 13 (b) - (f)) (7,314,000)        (9,350,000)             
Unfunded obligations (note 13 (g) - (i)) 8,045,001 6,977,272

731,001            (2,372,728)             

(a)

(b)

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Present value of funded obligations 22,148,000 18,665,000
Fair value of plan assets (29,462,000)      (28,015,000)           

Liability in the statement of financial position (7,314,000)        (9,350,000)             

(c)

(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss
2022 2021

Rs Rs

Current service cost 532,000            732,000                 
Interest cost 859,000            543,000                 
Expected income (1,289,000)        (492,000)                

.Net expense (included in staff costs) (Note 19) 102,000            783,000                 
 

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of funded obligations are as
follows:

The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the funded obligations is:

The Company participates in a defined contribution (DC) pension plan. Its contributions for DC employees
are expensed to profit or loss and amounted to Rs 7,220,756 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Rs
6,912,663). Some employees have a "No Worse off Guarantee" (NWOG) that their benefits would not be
worse than what they would have earned under a previous defined benefit (DB) pension plan . The
Company has recognised a net asset of Rs 7,314,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021: Rs 9,350,000) in respect of
the NWOG. The Company has also recognised a net liability of Rs 8,045,000 at 31 December 2022 (2021: Rs
6,977,272) in respect of any retirement gratuities, residual gratuities and pensions that are expected to be
paid out of the Company's cash flow to its employees.

Funded obligations

The assets of the fund are held independently and administered by Swan Life Limited . The actuary is Aon 
Hewitt Ltd.
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13.RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)

 (ii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
2022 2021

Rs Rs

Expected return on plan assets (158,000)      (404,000)      
Liability experience(loss)/gain (2,271,000)   1,196,000    
Liability loss/(gain) due to change in financial assumptions 4,363,000     (3,912,000)   

Net (gain) /loss 1,934,000     (3,120,000)   

(d)
2022 2021

Rs Rs

At 01 January 18,665,000   20,106,000  
Current service cost 532,000        732,000       
Interest cost 859,000        543,000       
Liability experience (gain)/loss (2,271,000)   1,196,000    
Liability (gain)/loss due to change in financial assumptions 4,363,000     (3,912,000)   

At 31 December 22,148,000   18,665,000  

(e) Changes in the fair value of plan assets are :
2022 2021

Rs Rs

At 01 January 28,015,000   9,419,000    
Expected income 1,289,000     492,000       
Employer contributions -               17,700,000  
Experience adjustments on plan assets 158,000        404,000       

At 31 December 29,462,000   28,015,000  

(f) Amounts in respect of funded obligations for the current and previous three years are as follows:

2022 2021 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs

Present value of funded obligations 22,148,000    18,665,000   20,106,000   11,431,000  
Fair value of plan assets (29,462,000)   (28,015,000)  (9,419,000)   (9,002,000)   

Liability in the statement of financial position (7,314,000)     (9,350,000)    10,687,000   2,429,000    

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (2,271,000)     1,196,000     (2,055,000)   (1,408,000)   

Experience adjustments on plan assets (158,000)        (404,000)       60,000          166,000       

Liability (gain)/loss to change in financial assumptions 4,363,000      (3,912,000)    9,663,000     3,228,000    

Funded obligations (Continued)

Changes in present value of the funded obligations:

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of the funded obligations are as follows:
(Continued)
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13.RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

(g)

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Present value of unfunded obligations 8,045,001     6,977,272    

Liability in the statement of financial position 8,045,001     6,977,272    

Changes in present value of unfunded obligations:

2022 2021

Rs Rs

At 01 January 6,977,272     9,942,704    
Current service cost 1,178,000     1,490,000    
Past service cost 4,231,000     -               
Interest cost 472,000        268,000       
Liability experience (gain) / loss (500,000)      3,334,000    

Liability gain due to change in financial assumptions (4,152,000)   (8,003,000)   
Direct benefits paid (161,271)      (54,432)        

At 31 December 8,045,001     6,977,272    

(h)

(i) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Current service cost 1,178,000     1,490,000    
Past service cost 4,231,000     -               
Interest cost 470,000        268,000       

Benefit expense (included in staff costs) (Note 19) 5,879,000     1,758,000    

(ii) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Return on planned assets excluding interest income 2,000            -               
Liability experience loss (500,000)      3,334,000    
Liability (gain)/loss due to change in financial assumptions (4,152,000)   (8,003,000)   

Benefit income ( included in other comprehensive income) (4,650,000)   (4,669,000)   

Unfunded obligations 

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in respect of unfunded obligations are as follows:

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of the unfunded obligations are as follows:

The contributions and direct benefits paid included in the statement of cashflows amounts to Rs 161,271 (2021: Rs 17,754,432) 
i.e Rs 161,271 (2021: Rs 54,432) paid for unfunded obligations and Rs nil  (2021: 17,700,000) paid for defined obligations.
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

(i) Amounts in respect of unfunded obligations for the current and previous three years are as follows:

2022 2021 2020 2019

Rs Rs Rs Rs

6,181,000    6,977,272    9,942,704     5,542,136     

(442,000)      3,334,000    890,000        (967,000)       

(3,882,000)   (8,003,000)   2,216,000     1,897,000     

(j)

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Discount rate                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              6.4% 4.6%
Rate of salary increase- Teaching Staff 4.6% 4.2%
Rate of salary increase- Non-Teaching Staff 3.4% 3.2%
Rate of pension increase -                -                
Average retirement age 65 years 65 years

Life expectancy for pensioners at average retirement age
Male 15.8 years 13.6 years
Female 16.7 years 15.2 years

(k)

2022 2021

Increase due to 1% decrease in discount rate 3,352,000     3,378,000     

Decrease due to 1% increase in discount rate 2,538,000     2,583,000     

(l)

Liability (gain)/loss due to change in 
financial assumptions

Unfunded obligations (Continued)

Future cash flows

The funding policy is to pay contributions to an external legal entity at the rate recommended by the
Company's actuary.
The expected employer contribution for 2023 is nil  for those entitled to a "No Worse off Guarantee" 
(NWOG) and Rs 438,000 for retirement gratuities, residual gratuities and unfunded pensions .

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations under the NWOG is 7 years , 19
years for residual gratuities, 8 years for retirement gratuities and 6 years for unfunded pensions.

Present value of unfunded obligations

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities

Sensitivity analysis on defined benefit obligations as at 31 December :

The above sensitivity analysis has been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligations at
end of year after increasing or decreasing the discount rate while leaving all other assumptions
unchanged. The results are particularly sensitive to a change in discount rate due to the nature of the
liabilities being the difference between a minimum DB liability and the projected DC liabilities, the
latter being Rs 59,036,000 as at 31 December 2022. Any similar variation in other assumptions would
have shown smaller variations in the DB obligations. 

The principal assumptions used in determining pension obligations for the Company's plans are 
shown below:
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13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

(m) Components of amount recognised in  profit or loss

2022 2021

Rs Rs

- Current service cost 1,710,000 2,222,000     
- Past service cost 4,231,000 -                
- Net interest on net defined benefit liability 40,000 319,000        

5,981,000      2,541,000     

(n) Components of amount recognised in other comprehensive income:

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Return on plan assets (above)/below expected income (156,000)        (404,000)       
Liability experience (gain)/loss (2,771,000)     4,530,000     

211,000         (11,915,000)  

(2,716,000)     (7,789,000)    

14. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2022 2021

Rs Rs

School fees and book rentals received in advance 35,193,936    36,724,825   
Contract liabilities 7,143,112      7,673,645     
Other payables 11,196,862    16,551,404   

53,533,910    60,949,874   

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities:

Contract liabilities ( Capital Levy)

Movements in capital levy were as follows:
2022 2021

Rs Rs

At 01 January 7,673,645      7,782,803     
Additions 5,379,956      5,761,250     
Refunded (219,491)        (194,192)       
Released to profit or loss (note 16) (5,690,998)     (5,676,216)    

At 31 December 7,143,112      7,673,645     

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average credit term of one month.

Liability (gain)/ loss due to change in financial assumptions

Capital Levy is a one-off payment paid by parents who enroll their children at Le Bocage International
School to secure a place. Capital Levy is reimbursed on a pro-rata basis over two years in case a student
leaves the school. No refund is made if the student leaves the school after 2 years. Capital levy received
but not yet utilized for relevant purposes are recognized under current liability in the financial position.
Capital levy are amortised over two years and are released from current liability and subsequently
recognized in profit or loss.
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15. TAXATION

The Company is a not-for-profit company and is exempt from income tax.

16. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS FROM CUSTOMERS

Service Contracts

2022 2021

Types of fees Rs Rs

School fees 166,679,727 158,420,983
Capital levy (Note 14) 5,690,998 5,676,216
Entrance exams 151,788 100,769

Total revenue from contracts with customers 172,522,513 164,197,968

17. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Book and ipad rentals 7,657,340 7,962,585

Others 2,367,738 1,488,385

10,025,078 9,450,970

Set out below of the disaggregation of the Company's revenue from the contracts with customers:

- Identifying performance obligations and determining the timing of satisfaction

Others comprise mainly of sales of uniforms, rental of the Multi Purpose Hall and refund from CEB for
sales of electricity. 

The Company applied the following judgements that significantly affect the determination of the amount
and timing of revenue from contracts with customers:

- Principal versus agent considerations

The Company concluded that revenue is to be recognised over time when the performance obligation
occurs over a period of time and at a point in time when the performance obligation occurs at a specific
point in time.

The Company determined that is it a principal in the contracts since it is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the specific service.
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18. OPERATING (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Depreciation (Note 5) 15,521,621 14,930,576
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 6) 46,077 127,867
Amortisation of right-of-use asset (Note 7) 126,937 200,808
Staff costs (Note 19) 132,498,932 120,627,317
Repairs and maintenance 8,772,191 5,972,204
Increase in allowance for credit losses (Note 9) 7,046 821,565       

Auditor remuneration 411,700 353,050

19. STAFF COSTS

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Salaries and related costs 115,052,401 107,194,154

Social security costs 4,244,775 3,979,500

Pension costs - defined benefit scheme  - funded (Note 13(c)) 102,000       783,000       

 - unfunded (Note 13(h))-unfunded (Note 13(h)) 5,879,000    1,758,000    

Pension costs - defined contribution scheme (Note 13) 7,220,756 6,912,663

132,498,932 120,627,317

The number of employees at the end of the year was 136 (2021: 132).

20. FINANCE INCOME

2022 2021

Rs Rs

Interest on bank balance 392,009 134,164

21. FINANCE COSTS
2022 2021

Rs Rs

Interest on bank overdraft  68 252
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 7) 11,295 11,560

11,363 11,812

The following items have been charged in arriving at the operating 
surplus:
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22. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Name of related party 2022 2021

Rs Rs

La Sentinelle Ltd Common directorship

44,609 34,086         

Librairie Le Cygne Common directorship Stationery 3,450 9,798           

Atom Travel Services Travel agency 2,851,769 75,943         

Charactère Limitée Common directorship Printing 164,000                  -   

Balances outstanding at year end

Librairie Le Cygne Common directorship Stationery 3,450                  -   

Atom Travel Services
Close family member Travel agency

                 -   (8,257)          

Key management personnel

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company transacted with related parties. The nature,
volume of transactions and the balances are as follows:

Nature of transactionsRelationship

All related party transactions are made at normal market prices.

Close family member

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Management oversees the
management of these risks whilst the Board of directors reviews, advises and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks which are summarised below:

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to interest rate risk related to its bank
balances which earn interest at variable rates.

Volume of transactions during the year

Advertising and 
recruitment expenses

There were no transactions with KMP except for salaries and benefits paid during the year. This amount to Rs 
18,389,323 for 2022 ( 2021: Rs 16,114,442).

PROGOS defines its key management personnel (KMP) as the members of the senior management. The
remuneration of the KMP are approved by the Finance Committee. In addition to their remuneration, there are
no other short or long-term benefits,post employment benefits or share-based benefits given to KMP except for
pensions paid to Mauritian KMP upon retirement. On termination of their employment contracts, expatriate
KMP are paid an end of contract gratuity.  

The Company's principal liabilities comprise of bank overdraft and trade and other payables. The main purpose
of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Company's operations. The Company has financial assets
comprising trade and other receivables and cash and short term deposits that derive directly from its
operations.
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Increase/
decrease in 
basis points

Effect on 
surplus for 

the year

Rs Rs

Net financial assets 100 386,186          

Net financial assets 100 524,749          

2022
On demand

Less than 3 
months

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years Over 5 years Total

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs

 
Lease liabilities -               -                  146,280     390,080    -                 536,360          

Other payables       -               11,196,862     -             -            -                 11,196,862     

Total -               11,196,862     146,280     390,080    -                 11,733,222     

2021

2022

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. The Company aims at maintaining flexibility in funding by
keeping reliable credit lines available. 

The table below provides an analysis of the maturity profile of financial liabilities at 31 December 2022 and
2021. The Lease liabilities are undiscounted.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, on the Company's surplus for the year (through the impact of variable rate
borrowing):

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation by adopting a prudent liquidity
risk management.

The Company's objective is to maintain flexibility between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of  bank overdraft.

Liquidity risk 
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2021
On demand

Less than 3 
months

Less than 
12 months

1 to 5 
years Over 5 years Total

Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs Rs

Lease Liabilities -               -                  92,500       -            -                 92,500            

Payables -                    16,551,404 -             -            -                 16,551,404     

Total -               16,551,404     92,500       -            -                 16,643,904     

The Company trades only with creditworthy parties. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis with the result that the Company's exposure to bad debts is not significant.                

Liquidity risk (Continued)

With respect to cash at bank, the Company's exposure to credit risk arises from the default of the counter party
with a maximum equal to the carrying value of the instrument. Cash at bank is held with financially reputable
institutions having strong credit ratings.                           

The Company's financial assets subject to the expected credit loss model within IFRS 9 are only short term
receivables. At 31 December 2022, the total of short term receivables was Rs 3,242,368 on which a loss
allowance of Rs 2,240,740 has been provided for ( 2021: total Rs 3,261,471 on which allowance of Rs 2,267,041
had been provided for).

Credit risk

Credit  risk  is  the  risk that a  counterparty will  not  meet  its obligations under a  financial  instrument or
customer contract,  leading  to a  financial  loss.  The  Company's credit  risk is  primarily attributable to its 
trade receivables. The amounts presented in the financial position are net of allowances for credit losses,
estimated by the Company's management. The debtors as at 31.12.2022 have been reviewed as at 31.03.2023
and all unpaid balances have been provided for. This provision will be reviewd by management on a regular
basis.The  Company  has  no  significant  concentration  of  credit  risk,  with  exposure  spread  over  a   large 
number  of counterparties  and   customers. 

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure the expected
credit losses. The rates are based on days past due and the calculation reflects the probability-weighted
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally,
trade receivables are written off if past due for more than one year.

Financial assets subject to IFRS 9's impairment requirements
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23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2022 2021

Rs Rs

480,723         91,562            
53,533,910    60,949,874     

(39,336,174)  (52,566,938)    
236,864         453                 

Net debt     14,915,323         8,474,951 

Equity   127,314,973     125,744,857 

Capital and net debt   142,230,296     134,219,808 
Gearing ratio 10% 6%

24. COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENCIES

25. WAR IN UKRAINE / RUSSIA  IMPACT AND GOING CONCERN

26. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Credit risk (Continued)

Lease Liabilities ( current and non current)
Trade and other payables
Less: Cash at bank and in hand
Add: Bank overdraft

There are no significant events after the reporting date which need to be disclosed or require 
amendmends to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the Company had no bank guarantee (2021: Rs nil).

The war in Ukraine/Russia is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company. Management
has determined that there is no material uncertainty that casts doubt on the Company's ability as a going
concern. It expects that the war in Ukriane/Russia will have no significant impact in relation to the
Company's expected future performances. 

Capital management

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to maximise the shareholder value. The
Company monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is 'net debt' divided by total capital plus net
debt. The Company's policy is to keep the gearing ratio less than 20%. The Company includes within net
debt, retirement benefit obligations, lease liabilities, trade and other payables, less net cash at bank and
in hand.
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